UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

,

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT

Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): March 8, 2021



NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant specified in its charter)

Utah

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

001-34483

(Commission File Number)

87-0327982 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2901 West Bluegrass Blvd., Suite 100 Lehi, Utah 84043

(Address of principal executive offices and zip code)

Registrant's telephone, including area code: (801) 341-7900

N/A

(Former name and former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions *(ee General Instruction A.2. below)*:

□ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

□ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

□ Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

D Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Title of each Class	Trading Symbol	Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, no par value	NATR	Nasdaq Capital Market

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§203.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).

Emerging growth company \Box

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Item 2.02 Results of Operations and Financial Condition.

On March 10, 2021, Nature's Sunshine Products, Inc. (the "Company") issued a press release announcing financial results for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2020. A copy of the Company's press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by reference.

The information furnished pursuant to this Item 2.02 and the exhibit hereto shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

The press release furnished herewith makes reference to non-GAAP financial information, which the Company's management believes assists management and investors in evaluating and comparing period-to-period results in a more meaningful and consistent manner. A reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP results is provided in the press release.

Item 5.03 Amendments to Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; Change in Fiscal Year.

On March 8, 2021, the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Nature's Sunshine Products, Inc. (the "Company") approved amendments to, and restated, the Company's Amended and Restated Bylaws (as amended and restated, the "Bylaws"), which became effective immediately upon approval.

The changes to the Bylaws: (i) modify the advance notice provisions for proposals and nominations for annual and special meetings; (ii) require disclosure of additional information about a proponent that is relevant to the evaluation of a proposal or nomination, including ownership and any relevant agreements; (iii) implement new board nominee requirements applicable to all directors, including existing directors; and (iv) designate Utah courts as the exclusive forum for resolving intra-corporate disputes.

The foregoing description of the Bylaws does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Bylaws, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.2 and incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8.01 Other Events.

Special Cash Dividend

On March 10, 2021, the Company issued a press release announcing that its Board of Directors approved the Company's payment of a special cash dividend of \$1.00 per share, payable on April 9, 2021, to shareholders of record on March 29, 2021.

A copy of the Company's press release is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

Item No.	Exhibit
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated March 8, 2021.
99.1	Press release issued by the Company, dated March 10, 2021.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC.

Dated: March 10, 2021

By: /s/ Nathan G. Brower

Nathan G. Brower, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF

NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC.

March 8, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article 1 OFFICES

- 1.1 Business Offices
- 1.2 Registered Office

Article 2 SHAREHOLDERS

- 2.1 Annual Meeting
- 2.2 Business at an Annual Meeting of Shareholders
- 2.3 Special Meetings
- 2.4 Place of Meetings
- 2.5 Notice of Meetings
- 2.6 Fixing of Record Date
- 2.7 Voting List
- 2.8 Meetings by Telecommunication
- 2.9 Shareholder Quorum and Voting Requirements
- 2.10 Conduct of Meetings of Shareholders
- 2.11 Adjournment and Notice of Adjourned Meetings
- 2.12 No Shareholder Action Without a Meeting
- 2.13 Proxies
- 2.14 Voting Shares
- 2.15 Waiver
- 2.16 Litigation Costs

Article 3 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 3.1 General Powers
- 3.2 Nomination of Directors
- 3.3 Additional Requirements For Nomination of Directors
- 3.4 Number of Directors, Tenure and Qualification
- 3.5 Election of Directors
- 3.6 Removal of Directors
- 3.7 Chairman of the Board of Directors
- 3.8 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
- 3.9 Regular Meetings
- 3.10 Special Meetings
- 3.11 Notice
- 3.12 Quorum
- 3.13 Manner of Acting
- 3.14 Vacancies and Newly-Created Directorships
- 3.15 Fees and Compensation
- 3.16 Presumption of Assent
- 3.17 Resignations
- 3.18 Action by Written Consent

3.19 Meetings by Telephone Conference Call

- Article 4 COMMITTEES
- 4.1 Committees
- 4.2 Procedures, Meetings and Quorum
- Article 5 OFFICERS
- 5.1 Officers
- 5.2 Appointment, Term of Office and Qualification
- 5.3 Resignations
- 5.4 Removal
- 5.5 Vacancies and Newly-Created Offices
- 5.6 Chief Executive Officer
- 5.7 President
- 5.8 Chief Financial Officer
- 5.9 Secretary
- 5.10 Treasurer
- 5.11 Assistant Secretaries and Treasurers
- 5.12 Salaries
- 5.13 Surety Bonds
- 5.14 Delegation of Authority
- Article 6 CAPITAL SHARES
- 6.1 Share Certificates
- 6.2 Shares Without Certificates
- 6.3 Transfer of Shares
- 6.4 Restrictions on Transfer or Registration of Shares
- 6.5 Regulations
- 6.6 Transfer Agent(s) and Registrar(s)
- 6.7 Lost or Destroyed Certificates
- Article 7 INDEMNIFICATION
- 7.1 Indemnification
- 7.2 Certain Restrictions on Indemnification
- 7.3 Mandatory Indemnification
- 7.4 Determination
- 7.5 General Indemnification
- 7.6 Advances
- 7.7 Scope of Indemnification
- 7.8 Insurance
- 7.9 Effect of Repeal or Modification of Article 7

Article 8 FISCAL YEAR

Article 9 AMENDMENTS

Article 10 FORUM SELECTION

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF

NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC.

ARTICLE 1. OFFICES

1.1 Business Offices

The principal office of the corporation shall be located at such place either within or outside the State of Utah, as may be determined by the Board of Directors. The corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Utah as the Board of Directors may designate or as the business of the corporation may require from time to time.

1.2 Registered Office

The registered office of the corporation shall be located within the State of Utah and may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office (if located within the State of Utah). The address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 2. <u>SHAREHOLDERS</u>

2.1 Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of shareholders ("*Annual Meeting*") shall be held each year on a date and at a time designated by the Board of Directors. At the meeting, directors shall be elected and any other proper business may be transacted. The Board of Directors may postpone, reschedule or cancel any previously scheduled Annual Meeting of shareholders.

2.2 Business at an Annual Meeting of Shareholders

(a) The business to be transacted at any Annual Meeting shall be limited to business that is properly brought before the meeting. For the purposes of this Section 2.2, "properly brought before the meeting" shall mean the business that is (i) specified in the notice of the meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (ii) otherwise brought before an Annual Meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, or (iii) a proper matter for shareholder action under the Utah Revised Business Corporation Act (the "*Revised Act*") that has been otherwise properly brought before an Annual Meeting by a shareholder who (A) is a shareholder of record both on the date of the giving of the notice provided for in this Section 2.2 and at the time of the meeting, (B) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (C) has complied with this Section 2.2 in all applicable respects. Except for proposals properly made in accordance with Rule 14a-8 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (as amended and inclusive of such rules and regulations, the "*Exchange Act*") and included in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, the foregoing clause (iii) shall be the exclusive means for a shareholder to propose business to be brought before an Annual Meeting.

(b) In order for business to be properly brought before an Annual Meeting by a shareholder, the shareholder must, in addition to any other applicable requirements, (i) provide Timely Notice (as defined below) thereof in writing and in proper form of such shareholder's intent to bring a matter before the Annual Meeting and (ii) provide any updates or supplements to such notice at the times and in the forms required by this Section 2.2. To be timely, a shareholder's notice must be delivered to, or mailed to and received by, the Secretary of the corporation at the corporation's principal executive offices not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the one-year anniversary of the preceding year's Annual Meeting; *provided, however*, that in the event that no Annual Meeting was held in the previous year or the date of the Annual Meeting is more than thirty (30) days before or more than sixty (60) days after such anniversary date, notice by the shareholder to be timely must be so delivered, or mailed and received, on the later of (i) the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such Annual Meeting or (ii) the tenth (10th) day following the day on which notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of the meeting was made by the corporation, whichever occurs first (such notice within such time periods, *"Timely Notice"*). In no event shall any postponement or adjournment of an Annual Meeting or the announcement thereof commence a new time period for the giving of Timely Notice as described above.

(c) Except with respect to nominations for the election of directors, which shall be governed by Section 3.2 hereof, to be in proper form, each such notice to the Secretary shall set forth:

as to each Proposing Person (as defined below), (A) the name and address of such Proposing Person (including, if i. applicable, the name and address that appear on the corporation's books and records); (B) the class or series and number of shares of capital shares of the corporation that are, directly or indirectly, beneficially owned (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) or owned of record by such Proposing Person, except that such Proposing Person shall in all events be deemed to beneficially own any shares of any class or series of the corporation as to which such Proposing Person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership at any time in the future: (C) the full notional amount of any securities that, directly or indirectly, underlie any "derivative security" (as such term is defined in Rule 16a-1(c) under the Exchange Act) that constitutes a "call equivalent position" (as such term is defined in Rule 16a-1(b) under the Exchange Act) ("Synthetic Equity Position") and that is, directly or indirectly, held or maintained by such Proposing Person with respect to any shares of any class or series of shares of the corporation ("Synthetic Equity Interests"); provided that, for the purposes of the definition of "Synthetic Equity Position," the term "derivative security" shall also include any security or instrument that would not otherwise constitute a "derivative security" as a result of any feature that would make any conversion, exercise or similar right or privilege of such security or instrument becoming determinable only at some future date or upon the happening of a future occurrence, in which case the determination of the amount of securities into which such security or instrument would be convertible or exercisable shall be made assuming that such security or instrument is immediately convertible or exercisable at the time of such determination; provided, further, that any Proposing Person satisfying the requirements of Rule 13d-1(b)(1) under the Exchange Act (other than a Proposing Person that so satisfies Rule 13d-1(b)(1) under the Exchange Act solely by reason of Rule 13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(E)) shall not be deemed to hold or maintain the notional amount of any securities that underlie a Synthetic Equity Position held by such Proposing Person as a hedge with respect to a bona fide derivatives trade or position of such

Proposing Person arising in the ordinary course of such Proposing Person's business as a derivatives dealer, (D) any proxy (other than a revocable proxy or consent given in response to a solicitation made pursuant to, and in accordance with, Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act by way of a solicitation statement filed on Schedule 14A), agreement, arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to which such Proposing Person has or shares a right to vote any shares of any class or series of the corporation, (E) any agreement, arrangement, understanding or relationship, including any repurchase or similar so-called "stock borrowing" agreement or arrangement, engaged in, directly or indirectly, by such Proposing Person, the purpose or effect of which is to mitigate loss to, reduce the economic risk (of ownership or otherwise) of shares of any class or series of the corporation held by, manage the risk of share price changes for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such Proposing Person with respect to the shares of any class or series of the corporation, or which provides, directly or indirectly, the opportunity to profit from any decrease in the price or value of the shares of any class or series of the corporation ("Short Interests"), (F) any rights to dividends on the shares of any class or series of the corporation owned beneficially by such Proposing Person that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the corporation, (G) any performance related fees (other than an asset based fee) that such Proposing Person is entitled to receive based on any increase or decrease in the price or value of shares of any class or series of the corporation, or any Synthetic Equity Interests or Short Interests, if any; (H) any material pending or threatened legal proceeding in which such Proposing Person is a party or material participant involving the corporation or any of its officers or directors, or any affiliate of the corporation, (I) any direct or indirect material interest in any material contract or agreement of such Proposing Person with the corporation or any affiliate of the corporation (including, in any such case, any employment agreement, collective bargaining agreement or consulting agreement). (J) any other material relationship between such Proposing Person, on the one hand, and the corporation or any affiliate or the corporation, on the other hand, (K) a representation that the Proposing Person is a holder of record of shares of the corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and such Proposing Person intends or is party of a group which intends to deliver a proxy statement or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation's outstanding capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal or otherwise solicit proxies from shareholders in support of such proposal; and (L) any other information relating to such Proposing Person and the business proposed by such Proposing Person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or other filing required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies or consents by such Proposing Person in support of the business being proposed (the disclosures made pursuant to the forgoing clauses (A) through (L) are referred to as "Disclosable Interests"); provided, however, that Disclosable Interests shall not include any such disclosures with respect to the ordinary course business activities of any broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee who is a Proposing Person solely as a result of being the shareholder directed to prepare and submit the notice required by these Bylaws on behalf of a beneficial owner. In addition, the Proposing Person shall promptly provide any other information reasonably requested by the corporation; and

ii. as to each item of business that the Proposing Peron(s) proposes to bring before the Annual Meeting or a special meeting, (A) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the Annual Meeting or a special meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the Annual Meeting or a special meeting and any material interest in such business

of each Proposing Person, (B) the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend the Bylaws, the language of the proposed amendment), and (C) a reasonably detailed description of all agreements, arrangements and understandings (x) between or among any of the Proposing Persons or (y) between or among any Proposing Person and any other person or entity (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such shareholder; and (D) any other information relating to such item of business that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filing required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies in support of the business proposed to be brought before the meeting pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act; *provided*, *however*, that the disclosures required by this paragraph (ii) shall not include any disclosures with respect to any broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee who is a Proposing Person solely as a result of being the shareholder directed to prepare and submit the notice required by these Bylaws on behalf of a beneficial owner (the disclosures made pursuant to the foregoing clauses (A) through (D) are referred to as "*Business Proposal Information*").

For purposes of this Section 2.2, the term "*Proposing Person*" shall mean (i) the shareholder providing the notice of business proposed to be brought before an Annual Meeting or a special meeting, (ii) the beneficial owner or beneficial owners, if different, on whose behalf the notice of the business proposed to be brought before the Annual Meeting or a special meeting is made and (iii) any affiliate or associate (each within the meaning of Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) of such shareholder or beneficial owner.

(d) A Proposing Person shall further update and supplement its notice to the corporation of its intent to propose business at an Annual Meeting or a special meeting, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant to this Section 2.2 shall be true and correct as of the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and supplement shall be delivered to, or mailed and received by, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than five (5) business days after the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the record date), and not later than eight (8) business days prior to the date of the meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof, if practicable, or if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, if practicable, or if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and supplement as set forth in this paragraph or any other Section of these Bylaws shall not limit the corporation's rights with respect to any deficiencies in any notice provided by a shareholder, to extend any applicable deadlines hereunder or enable or be deemed to permit a shareholder who has previously submitted notice hereunder to amend or update any proposal or to submit any new proposal, including by changing or adding matters, business or

(e) Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at an Annual Meeting or a special meeting that is not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with this Section 2.2 or Section 2.3, as applicable. The presiding officer of the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine that the business was not properly brought

before the meeting in accordance with this Section 2.2 or Section 2.3, as applicable, and if he or she should so determine, he or she shall so declare to the meeting and any such business not properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.

(f) This Section 2.2 is expressly intended to apply to any business proposed to be brought before an Annual Meeting of shareholders other than any proposal made in accordance with Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act and included in the corporation's proxy statement. In addition to the requirements of this Section 2.2 with respect to any business proposed to be brought before an Annual Meeting, each Proposing Person shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to any such business. Nothing in this Section 2.2 shall be deemed to affect the rights of shareholders to request inclusion of proposals in the corporation's proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.

2.3 Special Meetings

(a) Except as otherwise required by the Revised Act or the corporation's Articles of Incorporation (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the "*Articles of Incorporation*"), special meetings of shareholders may be called only by the Board of Directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Board of Directors or by the Secretary of the corporation following his or her receipt of one or more written demands to call a special meeting of the shareholders in accordance with, and subject to, this Section 2.3 from shareholders of record as of the record date fixed in accordance with Section 2.6 who hold, in the aggregate, at least ten percent (10%) of the voting power of the outstanding shares of the corporation. The notice of a special meeting shall state the purpose or purposes of the special meeting, and the business to be conducted at the special meeting shall be limited to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice. Except in accordance with this Section 2.3, shareholders shall not be permitted to propose business to be brought before a special meeting of the shareholders. Shareholders who nominate persons for election to the Board of Directors at a special meeting must also comply with the requirements set forth in this Section 2.3 and Section 3.3.

(b) No shareholder may demand that the Secretary of the corporation call a special meeting of the shareholders unless a shareholder of record has first submitted a request in writing that the Board of Directors fix a record date for the purpose of determining the shareholders entitled to demand that the Secretary of the corporation call such special meeting, which request shall be in proper form and delivered to, or mailed and received by, the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation.

(c) To be in proper form for purposes of this Section 2.3, a request by a shareholder for the Board of Directors to fix a record date shall set forth:

i. as to each Requesting Person (as defined below), the Disclosable Interests (as defined in Section 2.2(c)(i), except that for purposes of this Section 2.3 the term "Requesting Person" shall be substituted for the term "Proposing Person" in all places it appears in of Section 2.2(c)(i)) and the disclosure with respect to the business to be brought before the meeting in Section 2.2(c)(i) shall be made with respect to the business proposed to be conducted at the special meeting or the proposed election of directors at the special meeting, as the case may be; and

ii. as to the purpose or purposes of the special meeting, (A) the Business Proposal Information (as defined in Section 2.2(c)(ii)), or (B) if directors are proposed to be elected at the special meeting, the Nominee Information (as defined below) for each person whom a Requesting Person expects to nominate for election as a director at the special meeting.

For purposes of this Section 2.3, the term "*Requesting Person*" shall mean (i) the shareholder making the request to fix a record date for the purpose of determining the shareholders entitled to demand that the Secretary call a special meeting, (ii) the beneficial owner or beneficial owners, if different, on whose behalf such request is made and (iii) any affiliate or associate of such shareholder or beneficial owner.

(d) Within ten (10) days after receipt of a request to fix a record date in proper form and otherwise in compliance with this Section 2.3 from any shareholder of record, the Board of Directors may adopt a resolution fixing a record date for the purpose of determining the shareholders entitled to demand that the Secretary of the corporation call a special meeting, which date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors. If no resolution fixing a record date has been adopted by the Board of Directors within the ten (10) day period after the date on which such a request to fix a record date was received, the record date in respect thereof shall be deemed to be the twentieth (20th) day after the date on which such a request is received. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.3 to the contrary, no record date shall be fixed if the Board of Directors determines that the demand or demands that would otherwise be submitted following such record date could not comply with the requirements set forth in Section 2.3.

Without qualification, a special meeting of the shareholders shall not be called by the shareholders unless shareholders of (e) record as of the record date fixed in accordance with this Section 2.3 who hold, in the aggregate, more than ten percent (10%) of the voting power of the outstanding shares of the corporation (the "Requisite Percentage") timely provide one or more demands to call such special meeting in writing and in proper form to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation. Only shareholders of record on the record date shall be entitled to demand that the Secretary of the corporation call a special meeting of the shareholders pursuant to this Section 2.3. To be timely, a shareholder's demand to call a special meeting must be delivered to, or mailed to and received by, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the sixtieth (60th) day following the record date fixed in accordance with this Section 2.3 and Section 2.6. To be in proper form for purposes of this Section 2.3, a demand to call a special meeting shall set forth (i) the business proposed to be conducted at the special meeting or the proposed election of directors at the special meeting, as the case may be, (ii) the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration), if applicable, and (iii) with respect to any shareholder or shareholders submitting a demand to call a special meeting (except for any shareholder that has provided such demand in response to a solicitation made pursuant to, and in accordance with, Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act by way of a solicitation statement filed on Schedule 14A) (a "Solicited Shareholder"), the information required to be provided pursuant to this Section 2.3(c) and Section 3.2, as applicable, by a Requesting Person.

(f) The Secretary shall not accept, and shall consider ineffective, a written demand from a shareholder to call a special meeting (i) that does not comply with this Section 2.3, (ii)

that relates to an item of business to be transacted at such meeting that is not a proper subject for shareholder action under applicable law, and (iii) that includes an item of business to be transacted at such meeting that did not appear on the written request that resulted in the determination of the record date.

(g) After receipt of demands in proper form and in accordance with this Section 2.3 from a shareholder or shareholders holding the Requisite Percentage, the Board of Directors shall duly call, and determine the place, date and time of, a special meeting of shareholders for the purpose or purposes and to conduct the business specified in the demands received by the corporation. Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, the Board of Directors may submit its own proposal or proposals for consideration at such a special meeting. The record date for notice and voting for such a special meeting shall be fixed in accordance with Section 2.6 of these Bylaws. The Board of Directors shall provide written notice of such special meeting to the shareholders in accordance with Section 2.5 of these Bylaws.

(h) In connection with a special meeting called in accordance with this Section 2.3, the shareholder or shareholders (except for any Solicited Shareholder) who requested that the Board of Directors fix a record date for notice and voting for the special meeting in accordance with this Section 2.3 or who delivered a demand to call a special meeting to the Secretary shall further update and supplement the information previously provided to the corporation in connection with such request or demand, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such request or demand pursuant to this Section 2.3 shall be true and correct as of the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the special meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) business days prior to the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and supplement shall be delivered to, or mailed and received by, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than five (5) business days after the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the special meeting (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of such record date), and not later than eight (8) business days prior to the date of the special meeting, or any adjournment or postponement thereof, if practicable, or if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the special meeting has been adjourned or postponed (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof). For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and supplement as set forth in this paragraph or any other Section of these Bylaws shall not limit the corporation's rights with respect to any deficiencies in any request or demand provided by a shareholder, extend any applicable deadlines hereunder or enable or be deemed to permit a shareholder who has previously submitted a request or demand hereunder to amend or update any such request or demand, including by changing or adding nominees, matters, business or resolutions proposed to be brought before a meeting of the shareholders.

(i) Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, the Secretary shall not be required to call a special meeting except in accordance with this Section 2.3. If the Board of Directors shall determine that any request to fix a record date for notice and voting for the special meeting or demand to call and hold a special meeting was not properly made in accordance with this Section 2.3, or shall determine that the shareholder or shareholders requesting that the Board of Directors fix such record date or submitting a demand to call the special meeting has or have not otherwise complied with this Section 2.3, then the Board of

Directors shall not be required to fix such record date or to call and hold the special meeting. In addition to the requirements of this Section 2.3, each Requesting Person shall comply with all requirements of applicable law, including all requirements of the Exchange Act, with respect to any request to fix a record date for notice and voting for the special meeting or demand to call a special meeting.

2.4 Place of Meetings

Meetings of shareholders may be held at any place within or outside the State of Utah as designated by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting. In the absence of any such designation, meetings shall be held at the principal office of the corporation.

2.5 Notice of Meetings

Except as may otherwise be required by the Revised Act, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the notice of any meeting of shareholders shall be sent or otherwise given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting, either personally, by any form of electronic transmission, or by mail or express courier, by or at the direction of the Board of Directors to each shareholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting. The notice shall specify the place, if any, date and hour of the meeting, the means of remote communication, if any, by which shareholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting, the record date for determining the shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting (if such date is different from the record date for shareholders entitled to notice of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.

2.6 Fixing of Record Date

For the purpose of determining shareholders of any voting group entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of shareholders, or shareholders entitled to receive payment of any distribution or dividend, or in order to make a determination of shareholders for any other proper purpose, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a date as the record date. Such record date shall not be more than seventy (70) days prior to the date on which the particular action requiring such determination of the shareholders. If the Board of Directors so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record date for determining the shareholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the Board of Directors determines, at the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determined in accordance with the Revised Act. A determination of shareholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; *provided, however*, that the Board of Directors shall fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting if the meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed for the original meeting.

2.7 Voting List

The Secretary of the corporation, or such other officer as directed by the Board of Directors, shall prepare a list of the names of all of the shareholders who are entitled to be given notice of the meeting. The list shall be arranged by voting group and within each voting group by class or series of shares. The list shall be alphabetical within each class or series and must show the address of, and the number

of shares held by each shareholder. The shareholder list must be made available for inspection by any shareholder in accordance with the Revised Act.

2.8 Meetings by Telecommunication

Any or all of the shareholders may participate in an annual or special meeting of the shareholders by, or the meeting may be conducted through the use of, any means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other during the meeting.

2.9 Shareholder Quorum and Voting Requirements

(a) If the Articles of Incorporation or the Revised Act provide for voting by a single voting group on a matter, action on that matter is taken when voted upon by that voting group.

(b) If the Articles of Incorporation or the Revised Act provide for voting by two or more voting groups on a matter, action on that matter is taken only when voted upon by each of those voting groups counted separately. Action may be taken by one voting group on a matter even though no action is taken by another voting group entitled to vote on the matter.

(c) Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group may take action on a matter at a meeting only if a quorum of those shares exists with respect to that matter. Unless the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the Revised Act provide otherwise, a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter by the voting group constitutes a quorum of that voting group for action on that matter.

(d) Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, including the purpose of determining that a quorum exists, it is deemed present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting, unless a new record date is or must be set for the adjourned meeting pursuant to the Revised Act or these Bylaws.

(e) If a quorum exists, action on a matter, other than the election of directors, by a voting group is approved if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or the Revised Act require a greater number of affirmative votes.

2.10 Conduct of Meetings of Shareholders

(a) The Chairman of the Board of Directors or, if there shall be none or in his or her absence, the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, or if there shall be none or in his or her absence, the Chief Executive Officer or if there shall be none or in his or her absence, the President, who is present at the meeting, or in all of their absences an individual designated by the Board of Directors, shall call to order and act as the presiding officer of any meeting of the shareholders of the corporation. The Secretary of the corporation shall serve as the Secretary of the meeting appoints. The Board of Directors may, to the extent not prohibited by law, adopt by resolution such rules, regulations and procedures for the conduct of the meeting of shareholders as it shall deem appropriate. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules, regulations and procedures as adopted by the Board of Directors, the presiding officer of the meeting shall be vertex as adopted by the Board of Directors, the presiding officer of the meeting shall be vertex as adopted by the Board of Directors, the presiding officer of the meeting shall be rules.

such rules, regulations and procedures and to take or refrain from taking such actions as, in the judgment of the presiding officer of the meeting, are appropriate for the conduct of the meeting. To the extent not prohibited by applicable law or these Bylaws, such rules, regulations and procedures, whether adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the presiding officer of the meeting, may include, without limitation, establishment of (i) an agenda or order of business for the meeting, (ii) the method by which business may be proposed and procedures for determining whether business has been properly (or not properly) introduced before the meeting, (iii) procedures for casting and the form of ballots to be used by shareholders in attendance at the meeting and the procedures to be followed for counting shareholder votes, (iv) rules, regulations and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present, (v) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting shall determine, (vi) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof and (vii) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. Unless and to the extent otherwise determined by the Board of Directors or the presiding officer of the meeting, it shall not be necessary to follow Roberts' Rules of Order or any other rules of parliamentary procedure at the meeting of shareholders. Following completion of the business of the meeting as determined by the presiding officer of the meeting, the presiding officer of the meeting shall have the exclusive authority to adjourn the meeting.

(b) No business shall be conducted at an annual or special meeting of shareholders of the corporation except business brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in these Bylaws. If the introduction of any business at an annual or special meeting of shareholders does not comply with the procedures specified in these Bylaws, the presiding officer of the meeting may declare that such business is not properly before the meeting and shall not be considered at the meeting.

2.11 Adjournment and Notice of Adjourned Meetings

Any meeting of shareholders, whether annual or special, may be adjourned from time to time exclusively by the presiding officer of the meeting. When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting which the adjournment is taken unless the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, the corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting.

2.12 No Shareholder Action Without a Meeting

As provided in and subject to the Articles of Incorporation, the shareholders of the corporation are not permitted to take action without a meeting of shareholders held and noticed in accordance with these Bylaws. Any action taken by shareholders by written consent or without a meeting shall be null and void. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 2.12 shall not affect the validity of shareholder action taken prior to the adoption of these Bylaws.

2.13 Proxies

At all meetings of shareholders, a shareholder may vote in person or by proxy. Each shareholder entitled to vote at any meeting of the shareholders, or such shareholder's duly authorized agent or attorney-in-fact, may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for the shareholder by signing an appointment form or by an electronic transmission containing or accompanied by information that indicates that such shareholder's agent, or such shareholder's attorney-in-fact, authorized such electronic transmission. Such proxy shall be filed with the inspector of election or the officer or agent of the corporation authorized to tabulate votes before or at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after eleven (11) months from the date of its execution unless a longer period is expressly provided in the proxy appointment form.

2.14 Voting Shares

. Each outstanding share, regardless of class, shall be entitled to one (1) vote, and each fractional share is entitled to a corresponding fractional vote, on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of the shareholders, except as otherwise required by the Revised Act and to the extent that the voting rights of the shares of any class or classes are limited or denied by the Articles of Incorporation. Unless the Articles of Incorporation provide otherwise, at each election for directors, every shareholder entitled to vote at such election shall have the right to vote, in person or by proxy, all of the votes to which the shareholder's shares are entitled for as many persons as there are directors to be elected and for whose election such shareholder has a right to vote.

2.15 Waiver

A shareholder may waive any notice required by the Revised Act, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws before or after the date and time stated in the notice as the date or time when any action will occur or has occurred.

2.16 Litigation Costs

To the fullest extent permitted by law, in the event that (i) any current shareholder of the corporation or anyone on its behalf ("*Claiming Party*") initiates or asserts any claim or counterclaim ("*Claim*"), or joins, offers substantial assistance to or has a direct financial interest in any Claim against the corporation any of its directors, officers employees or affiliates (the "*Company Parties*") and (ii) the Claiming Party (or the third party that received substantial assistance from the Claiming Party or in whose Claim the Claiming Party had a direct financial interest) does not obtain a judgment on the merits that substantially achieves, in substance and amount, the full remedy sought, then each Claiming Party shall be obligated jointly and severally to reimburse the Company Parties for all reasonable fees, costs and expenses of every kind and description (including, but not limited to, all reasonable attorneys' fees and other litigation expenses) that the Company Parties may incur in connection with such Claim.

ARTICLE 3. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3.1 General Powers

All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors, subject to any limitation



set forth in the Articles of Incorporation or in a shareholder's agreement authorized under the Revised Act.

3.2 Nomination of Directors

(a) Subject to the Articles of Incorporation, only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as directors, except as may be otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation with respect to the right, if any, of holders of a class of preferred shares of the corporation to nominate and elect a specified number of directors. To be properly brought before an Annual Meeting, or any special meeting of the shareholders called for the purpose of electing directors, nominations for the election of a director must be (i) made by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or any duly authorized committee thereof and specified in the notice of annual or special meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (ii) made by or at the directors or any duly authorized committee thereof to be brought before the Annual Meeting, or (iii) made by a shareholder of the corporation who (A) is a shareholder of record on the date of the giving of the notice provided for in this Section 3.2 and at the time of such meeting, (B) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (C) has complied with this Section 3.2 and Section 3.3 as to such notice and nomination. The foregoing clause (iii) shall be the exclusive means for a shareholder to make any nomination of a person or persons for election to the Board of Directors at an annual or special meeting.

i. Without qualification, for a shareholder to make any nomination of a person or persons for election to the Board of Directors at an Annual Meeting, such shareholder must (A) provide Timely Notice (as defined in Section 2.2(b)) thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the corporation, (B) provide the information, agreements and questionnaires with respect to such shareholder and its proposed nominee as required to be set forth by this Section 3.2 and Section 3.3 and (C) provide any updates or supplements to such notice at the time and in the forms required by this Section 3.2 and Section 3.3.

ii. Without qualification, if the election of directors is a matter specified in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the person calling a special meeting, then for a shareholder to make any nomination of a person or persons for election to the Board of Directors at a special meeting, the shareholder must (A) provide timely notice thereof in writing and in proper form to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation, (B) provide the information with respect to such shareholder and its proposed nominee as required by this Section 3.2 and Section 3.3 and (C) provide any updates or supplements to such notice at the times and in the forms required by this Section 3.2. To be timely, a shareholder's notice for nominations of directors to be made at a special meeting called for purposes of electing directors must be received by the Secretary of the corporation at the corporation at the one hundred twentieth (120th) day prior to such special meeting and not later than the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such special meeting or, if later, the tenth (10th) day following the day on which public disclosure of the date of such special meeting was first made.

iii. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an Annual Meeting or special meeting or the announcement thereof commence a new time period for the giving of a shareholder's notice as described above.

(b) To be in proper form for purposes of this Section 3.2, a shareholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth:

i. as to each Nominating Person, any Disclosable Interests (as defined in Section 2.2(c)(i)), except that for purposes of this Section 3.2 the term "Nominating Person" shall be substituted for the term "Proposing Person" in all places it appears in Section 2.2(c)(i) and the disclosure with respect to the business to be brought before the meeting in Section 2.2(c)(i) shall be made with respect to the election of directors at the meeting; and

ii. as to each person whom a Nominating Person proposes to nominate for election as a director, (A) all information with respect to such proposed nominee that would be required to be set forth in a shareholder's notice pursuant to this Section 3.2 and Section 3.3 if such proposed nominee were a Nominating Person, (B) all information relating to such proposed nominee that is required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14(a) under the Exchange Act (including such proposed nominee's written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected), (C) a description of all direct and indirect material interests in any material contract, agreement, arrangement or understanding during the past three years, and any other material relationships, between or among any Nominating Person, on the one hand, and each proposed nominee, his or her respective affiliates and associates, on the other hand, including, without limitation, all information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 under Regulation S-K if such Nominating Person were the "registrant" for purposes of such rule and the proposed nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant, and (D) a completed and signed questionnaire, representation and agreement as provided in Section 3.3(a) (the disclosures to be made pursuant to the foregoing clauses (A) through (D) are referred to as "*Nominee Information*"). The corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information that could be material to a reasonable shareholder's understanding of the independence or lack of independence of such proposed nominee.

For purposes of this Section 3.2, the term "*Nominating Person*" shall mean (i) the shareholder providing the notice of the nomination proposed to be made at the meeting, (ii) the beneficial owner or beneficial owners, if different, on whose behalf the notice of the nomination proposed to be made at the meeting is made, and (iii) any affiliate or associate of such shareholder or beneficial owner.

(c) A shareholder providing notice of any nomination proposed to be made at a meeting shall further update and supplement such notice, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant to this Section 3.2 shall be true and correct as of the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and supplement shall be delivered to, or mailed and received by, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than five (5) business days after the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting or, if practicable, any adjournment or postponement thereof (and, if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the meeting has been adjourned or postponed) (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the case of the update and supplement or postponement thereof (and, if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the meeting has been adjourned or postponed) (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of the case of the update and supplement or postponement thereof (and, if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the meeting or any adjournment or postponed) (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or

postponement thereof). For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and supplement as set forth in this paragraph or any other Section of these Bylaws shall not limit the corporation's rights with respect to any deficiencies in any notice provided by a shareholder, extend any applicable deadlines hereunder or enable or be deemed to permit a shareholder who has previously submitted notice hereunder to amend or update any nomination or to submit any new nomination.

(d) In addition to the requirements of this Section 3.2 with respect to any nomination proposed to be made at a meeting, each Nominating Person shall comply with all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act with respect to any such nominations.

3.3 Additional Requirements For Nomination of Directors

To be eligible to be a proposed nominee for election as a director at an annual or special meeting, a proposed nominee (a) must be nominated in the manner prescribed in Section 3.2 and the proposed nominee, whether nominated by the Board of Directors or by a shareholder of record, must have previously delivered (in accordance with the time period prescribed for delivery in a notice to such proposed nominee given by or on behalf of the Board of Directors), to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation, (i) a completed written questionnaire (in a form provided by the corporation) with respect to the background, qualifications, stock ownership and independence of such proposed nominee and (ii) a written representation and agreement (in a form provided by the corporation) that such proposed nominee (A) is not and, if elected as a director during his or her term of office, will not become a party to (1) any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given and will not give any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such proposed nominee, if elected as a director, will act or vote on any issue or question (a "Voting Commitment") or (2) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such proposed nominee's ability to comply, if elected as a director, with such proposed nominee's fiduciary duties under applicable law, (B) is not, and will not become a party to, any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation or reimbursement for service as a director that has not been disclosed therein, (C) if elected as a director, will comply with all applicable corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality, stock ownership and trading and other policies and guidelines of the corporation applicable to directors and in effect during such person's term in office as a director (and, if requested by any proposed nominee, the Secretary of the corporation shall provide to such proposed nominee all such policies and guidelines then in effect), and (D) consents to being named as a nominee in the corporation's proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-4(d) under the Exchange Act and any associated proxy card of the corporation and agrees to serve if elected as a director.

(b) The Board of Directors may also require any proposed nominee as a director to furnish such other information as may reasonably be requested by the Board of Directors in writing prior to the meeting of shareholders at which such proposed nominee's nomination is to be acted upon in order for the Board of Directors to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to be an independent director in accordance with any national securities exchange on which the corporation's securities are listed.

(c) A proposed nominee for election as a director shall further update and supplement the materials delivered pursuant to this Section 3.3, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided pursuant to this Section 3.3 shall be true and correct as of the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting and as of the date that is ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof, and such update and supplement shall be delivered to, or mailed and received by, the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation (or any other office specified by the corporation in any public announcement) not later than five (5) business days after the record date for shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of such record date), and not later than eight (8) business days prior to the date for the meeting or, if practicable, any adjournment or postponement thereof (and, if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to the date to which the meeting has been adjourned or postponed) (in the case of the update and supplement required to be made as of ten (10) business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof). For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and supplement as set forth in this paragraph or any other Section of these Bylaws shall not limit the corporation's rights with respect to any deficiencies in any notice provided by a shareholder, extend any applicable deadlines hereunder or enable or be deemed to permit a shareholder who has previously submitted notice hereunder to amend or update any proposal or to submit any new proposal, including by changing or adding nominees, matters, business or resolutions proposed to be brought before a meeting of the shareholder.

(d) No proposed nominee shall be eligible for nomination as a director unless such proposed nominee and the Nominating Person seeking to place such proposed nominee's name in nomination has complied with Section 3.2 and this Section 3.3, as applicable. The presiding officer of the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine that a nomination was not properly made in accordance with Section 3.2 and this Section 3.3, and if he or she should so determine, he or she shall so declare such determination to the meeting, the defective nomination shall be disregarded and any ballots cast for the proposed nominee (but in the case of any form of ballot listing other qualified nominees, only the ballots cast for the proposed nominee in question) shall be void and of no force or effect.

(e) Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, no proposed nominee shall be eligible to be seated as a director unless nominated and elected in accordance with Section 3.2 and this Section 3.3.

3.4 Number of Directors, Tenure and Qualification

The number of directors to constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be such number (not less than three nor more than ten) as shall be fixed from time to time exclusively by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board of Directors. Directors need not be shareholders or residents of the State of Utah. Directors shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting and until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the expiration of such director's term of office. When the number of directors is changed, each director then serving as such shall nevertheless continue as a director until the expiration of his or her current term.

3.5 Election of Directors

At each election of directors, unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation or the Revised Act, every shareholder entitled to vote at the election has the right to cast, in person or by proxy, all of the votes to which the shareholder's shares are entitled for as many persons as there are directors to be elected and for whose election the shareholder has the right to vote. Directors are to be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares entitled to vote in the election, at a meeting of shareholders at which a quorum is present. However, to the extent permitted by the Revised Act, an election of directors shall be governed by the terms of Section 16-10a-1023 of the Revised Act.

3.6 Removal of Directors

The shareholders may remove one or more directors at a meeting called for that purpose only if notice has been given in accordance with these Bylaws that a purpose of the meeting is such removal. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, directors may only be removed in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation. If a director is elected by a voting group of shareholders, only the shareholders of that voting group may participate in the vote to remove such director.

3.7 Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors may elect a Chairman of the Board of Directors, which person shall at all times be a director. The position of Chairman of the Board of Directors and the office of Chief Executive Officer shall not be held by the same person at the same time. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, if such a person is elected, shall, if present, preside at meetings of the Board of Directors and exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors or as may be prescribed by these Bylaws. The period(s) of service by the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall be determined by the Board of Directors. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if elected, the Board of Directors may appoint another member of the Board of Directors to conduct the meeting(s) of the Board of Directors.

3.8 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors may elect a Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, which person shall at all times be a director. The Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, if such a person is elected, shall, if present, preside at meetings of the Board of Directors when the Chairman is absent or otherwise unable to preside and exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors or as may be prescribed by these Bylaws. The period(s) of service by the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, if elected, the Board of Directors may appoint another member of the Board of Directors to conduct the meeting(s) of the Board of Directors under the circumstances provided for in this Section 3.8.

3.9 Regular Meetings

The Board of Directors may provide by resolution the time and place, either within or without the State of Utah, for the holding of regular meetings without notice other than such resolution.



3.10 Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by or at the request of the Chairman of the Board of Directors or a majority of the directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix any place, either within or without the State of Utah, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors.

3.11 Notice

Notice of the date, time, and place of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be delivered personally or by telephone to each director, sent by electronic transmission to each director or sent by mail or express courier, charges prepaid, addressed to each director at that director's address as it is shown on the records of the corporation. If the notice is mailed, it shall be effective if deposited in the United States mail at least two (2) days before the time of the holding of the meeting. If the notice is delivered personally, by express courier, or by telephone or electronic transmission, it shall be effective if delivered at least twentyfour (24) hours before the meeting begins. The method of notice need not be the same to each director. Any oral notice given personally or by telephone may be communicated either to the director. Any director may waive notice of any meeting by delivering a written waiver to the corporation to file in its corporate records, and attendance of a director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where the director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened and does not thereafter vote for or consent to action taken at the meeting. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors needs to be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting unless required by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the Revised Act.

3.12 Quorum

A majority of the directors in office immediately before the meeting begins shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, but if less than a majority is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice until a quorum shall be present.

3.13 Manner of Acting

The act of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall, unless the act of a greater number of directors is required by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the Revised Act, be the act of the Board of Directors.

3.14 Vacancies and Newly-Created Directorships

Subject to the Articles of Incorporation and the provisions of these Bylaws, any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors may be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, although less than a quorum, or by the sole remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected until the next Annual Meeting and until his or her successor shall have been elected and qualified or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. The term "vacancy"



includes any directorship authorized under Section 3.4, but not filled by the shareholders at the Annual Meeting, whether or not such directorship had previously been filled.

3.15 Fees and Compensation

Directors and members of committees designated by the Board of Directors may receive such compensation, if any, for their services and such reimbursement of expenses as may be fixed or determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. This Section 3.15 shall not be construed to preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity as an officer, agent, employee, or otherwise and receiving compensation for those services.

3.16 Presumption of Assent

A director who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors when any corporate action is taken is presumed to have consented to the action taken at the meeting unless the director objects at the beginning of the meeting, or promptly upon arrival, to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or consent to any action taken at the meeting, or the director contemporaneously requests his or her dissent or abstention as to any specific action to be entered into the minutes of the meeting, or the director causes written notice of a dissent or abstention as to a specific action to be received by the presiding officer of the meeting before adjournment of the meeting or by the corporation promptly after adjournment of the meeting.

3.17 Resignations

A director may resign at any time by giving a written notice of resignation to either the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, or the Secretary. Unless otherwise provided in the resignation, the resignation shall become effective when the notice is received by the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary. If the resignation is effective at a future time, the Board of Directors may elect a successor to take office when the resignation becomes effective.

3.18 Action by Written Consent

Any action required to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the corporation or any other action that may be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all of the directors, or all of the members of the committee, as the case may be. Such consent shall have the same legal effect as a unanimous vote of all the directors or members of the committee, as the case may be, and may be described as such in any document or instrument. Action taken pursuant to this Section is effective when the last director signs a writing describing the action taken, unless the Board of Directors establishes a different effective date.

3.19 Meetings by Telephone Conference Call

Members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, by means of conference telephone call or similar communications equipment by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other throughout the meeting. Participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.



ARTICLE 4. COMMITTEES

4.1 Committees

The Board of Directors may from time to time by resolution adopted by a majority of the Board of Directors designate from among its members one or more committees, which may include, but is not limited to, a Compensation Committee, an Audit Committee, a Governance Committee, and such other committees as the Board of Directors shall deem appropriate, each of which shall have such authority of the Board of Directors as may be specified in the resolution of the Board of Directors designating such committee; *provided, however*, that any such committee so designated shall not have any powers not allowed under the Revised Act. The Chairman of any such committee shall be designated by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may also designate a Vice Chairman of any such committee. Each committee must have at least two (2) directors as members. The Board of Directors shall have power at any time to change the members of any such committee, designate alternate members of any such committee, and fill all vacancies therein. The members of any such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.

4.2 Procedures, Meetings and Quorum

Unless the Board of Directors provides otherwise and subject to these Bylaws, each committee of the Board of Directors may make, alter and repeal rules for the conduct of its business. Meetings of any committee designated by the Board of Directors may be called and held at such times and places as the Chairman of such committee shall from time to time determine. A meeting of any committee designated by the Board of Directors may also be called by the Vice Chairman of such committee, a majority of the directors assigned to such committee, the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Notice of such meetings shall be given within the same times and by the same means as set forth in these Bylaws for meetings of the Board of Directors. At every meeting of any such committee must be authorized by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present at such meeting at which a quorum is present. Any such committee shall keep minutes of its proceedings, and all action by such committee shall be reported to the Board of Directors at its meeting next succeeding such action. Any action by a committee shall be subject to review by the Board of Directors, provided, no rights of third parties shall be affected by such review.

ARTICLE 5. OFFICERS

5.1 Officers

Except as provided otherwise by a resolution of the Board of Directors, the officers of the corporation shall include a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Chief Financial Officer, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers as determined by resolution of the Board of Directors in its sole and absolute discretion. Any two (2) or more offices may be held by the same person at the same time.

5.2 Appointment, Term of Office and Qualification

The officers of the corporation shall be appointed by, and serve at the pleasure of, the Board of Directors, subject to any rights of an officer under any contract of employment. Appointment of the



Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Financial Officer, Vice Presidents, the Secretary and the Treasurer shall take place annually or at such other intervals as the Board of Directors may determine, subject to any rights of an officer under any contract of employment, and may be made at regular or special meetings of the Board of Directors or by the written consent of the directors. Subject to the foregoing, the Chief Executive Officer shall appoint all Assistant or Divisional Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers from time to time in his or her discretion. Each officer shall hold office until such officer's death, resignation, or removal in the manner provided in these Bylaws. No officer provided for in this Article 5 need be a director of the corporation nor shall any such officer be a director unless elected a director in accordance with these Bylaws.

5.3 Resignations

Any officer may resign at any time by delivering a written resignation to the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary. Unless otherwise specified therein, such resignation shall take effect upon such delivery of the resignation; and, unless otherwise specified in the resignation, the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Any resignation is without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party.

5.4 Removal

Any officer may be removed by the Board of Directors or by a committee thereof, if so authorized by the Board of Directors, whenever in its judgment the best interests of the corporation would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice and subject to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed.

5.5 Vacancies and Newly-Created Offices

A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting or by the unanimous written consent of the directors.

5.6 Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer shall, subject to the direction and control of the Board of Directors, have general control and management of the business, affairs and policies of the corporation and over its officers and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect. The Chief Executive Officer shall have the power to sign all certificates, contracts and other instruments on behalf of the corporation.

5.7 President

The President shall be subject to the direction and control of the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Directors and shall, subject to such direction and control, have general active management of the business, affairs and policies of the corporation. The President shall have the power to sign all certificates, contracts and other instruments on behalf of the corporation. If the Board of Directors has not elected a Chief Executive Officer, the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer. If the Board of Directors has elected a Chief Executive Officer and that officer is absent, disqualified from acting, unable to act or refuses to act, then the President shall have the powers of, and shall perform the duties, of the Chief Executive Officer.



5.8 Chief Financial Officer

The Chief Financial Officer shall be subject to the direction and control of the Chief Executive Officer, shall have primary responsibility for the financial affairs of the corporation and shall (i) keep accurate financial records for the corporation; (ii) deposit all moneys, drafts and checks in the name of, and to the credit of, the corporation in such banks and depositories as the Board of Directors shall, from time to time, designate or otherwise authorize; (iii) have the power to endorse, for deposit, all notes, checks and drafts received by the corporation; (iv) disburse the funds of the corporation in accordance with the corporation's policies and procedures as adopted by resolution of the Board of Directors, making or causing to be made proper vouchers therefor; (v) render to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Directors, whenever requested, an account of all of his or her transactions as Chief Financial Officer and of the financial condition of the corporation, and (vi) shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws or by the Chief Executive Officer.

5.9 Secretary

(a) The Secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of the corporation or such other place as the Board of Directors may direct, a book of minutes of the proceedings of all meetings of, and a record of all actions taken by, the Board of Directors or any committees of the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall cause all notices of meetings to be duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws and as required by the Revised Act.

(b) The Secretary shall be the custodian of the corporate records and of the seal, if any, of the corporation. Unless otherwise required by applicable law or by the Board of Directors, the adoption or use of a corporate seal is not required. The Secretary shall see that the books, reports, statements, certificates, and other documents and records required by the Revised Act are properly kept and filed.

(c) The Secretary shall have charge of the share books of the corporation and cause the share and transfer books to be kept in such manner as to show at any time the amount of the shares of the corporation of each class issued and outstanding, the manner in which and the time when such shares were paid for, the alphabetically arranged names and addresses of the holders of record thereof, the number of shares held by each holder, and the time when each became a holder of record. The Secretary may discharge this responsibility through a transfer agent or transfer agents approved by the Chief Executive Officer or the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall exhibit at all reasonable times to any director, upon application, the original or duplicate share register. The Secretary shall cause the share ledger to be kept and exhibited at the principal office of the corporation or the office of the corporation's transfer agent in the manner and for the purposes provided by these Bylaws and the Revised Act.

(d) The Secretary shall perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as are given to him or her by applicable law or these Bylaws or as from time to time may be assigned by the Board of Directors.

5.10 Treasurer

(a) The Treasurer shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records of accounts of the properties and business transactions of the corporation, including accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings, and shares. The books of account shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by any director.

(b) The Treasurer shall deposit all monies and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the corporation with such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, shall render to the President and the Board of Directors, whenever they request it, an account of all transactions taken as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the corporation, and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws.

5.11 Assistant Secretaries and Treasurers

Any Assistant Secretaries or Assistant Treasurers shall perform such of the duties of the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, as may be assigned to them by the officers they are elected to assist, or as may otherwise be prescribed for them by the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer.

5.12 Salaries

The compensation of the Chief Executive Officer shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors or any duly authorized committee thereof. Subject to compliance with applicable law and the requirements of any listing agreement with any exchange upon which the corporation's shares trade, the compensation of the other officers shall be fixed from time to time based on the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer and after review by the Board of Directors or any duly authorized committee thereof.

5.13 Surety Bonds

In the event the Board of Directors shall so require, any officer or agent of the corporation shall provide the corporation with a bond, in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors may direct, conditioned upon the faithful performance of his or her duties to the corporation, including responsibility for negligence and for the accounting of all property, monies, or securities of the corporation that may come under his or her responsibility.

5.14 Delegation of Authority

The Board of Directors may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officers or agents, notwithstanding any provision hereof.

ARTICLE 6. CAPITAL SHARES

6.1 Share Certificates

(a) The shares of the corporation may, but need not be, represented by certificates. If the shares are represented by certificates, the certificates shall be signed by any two (2) of the following officers: the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Vice President, the Secretary, or any Assistant Secretary of the corporation. The signatures of the designated officers upon a certificate may be facsimiles. In case any officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon such certificate shall have ceased to be such officer before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he or she were such officer at the date of its issue.

(b) If the corporation is authorized to issue different classes of shares or a different series within a class, the designations, preferences, limitations, and relative rights applicable to each class, the variations in preferences, limitations, and relative rights determined for each series, and the authority of the Board of Directors to determine variations for any existing or future class or series, must be summarized on the front or back of each share certificate. Alternatively, each certificate may state conspicuously on its front or back that the corporation will furnish the shareholder this information upon written request, without charge.

- (c) Each certificate representing shares shall also state upon the face thereof:
 - i. The name of the corporation and that it is organized under the laws of the State of Utah.
 - ii. The name of the person to whom the certificate is issued.
 - iii. The number and class of shares, and the designation of the series, if any, which such certificate represents.

(d) There shall be entered upon the share transfer books of the corporation at the time of issuance of each share, the number of the certificate issued, the name and address of the person owning the shares represented thereby, the number and kind, class, or series of such shares, and the date of issuance thereof. Every certificate exchanged or returned to the corporation shall be marked "Canceled" with the date of cancellation. Unless otherwise required by the Revised Act, or by the Board of Directors in accordance with applicable law, the foregoing with respect to shares does not affect shares already represented by certificates.

6.2 Shares Without Certificates

The Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of some or all of the shares of any or all of the classes or series of the corporation's shares without certificates or as book-entry shares. The authorization does not affect shares already represented by certificates until they are surrendered to the corporation. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of shares without certificates, the corporation shall send the shareholder a written statement of the information required to be on certificates by Section 6.1 of these Bylaws or the Revised Act.

6.3 Transfer of Shares

Shares shall be transferred on the books of the corporation by the holder thereof in person or by his attorney, (i) with regard to certificated shares, upon surrender to the corporation or to a transfer agent for cancellation of certificates for the same number of shares, with an assignment and power of transfer endorsed thereon or attached thereto, duly executed, and with such proof of the authenticity of the signature as the corporation or its agents may reasonably require, and (ii) with regard to uncertificated shares, upon delivery of an instruction duly executed, and with such proof of the authenticity of the signature as the corporation or its agents may reasonably require, and (ii) with regard to uncertificated shares, upon delivery of an instruction duly executed, and with such proof of the authenticity of the signature as the corporation or its agents may reasonably require. Whenever any transfer of shares shall be made for collateral security, and not absolutely, it shall be so expressed in the entry of transfer if, when the certificates are presented to the corporation for transfer or uncertificated shares are requested to be transferred, both the transferor and transfere request the corporation to do so. Except as may be otherwise required by the Revised Act, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the corporation shall be entitled to treat the record holder of shares as shown on its books as the owner of such shares for all purposes, including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with respect to such shares, regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition of such shares until the shares have been transferred on the books of the corporation in accordance with the requirements of these Bylaws.

6.4 Restrictions on Transfer or Registration of Shares

(a) Subject to the Articles of Incorporation or the provisions of these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may, as they may deem expedient, impose restrictions on the transfer or registration of transfer of shares of the corporation. Such restrictions do not affect shares issued before the restriction was adopted unless the holders of the shares are parties to the restriction agreement or voted in favor of the restriction or otherwise consented to the restriction.

(b) The restriction on the transfer or registration of transfer of shares is valid and enforceable against the holder or a transferee of the holder, if the restriction is authorized by the Revised Act and its existence is noted conspicuously on the front or back of the certificate, or if the restriction is contained in the information statement that is sent to shareholders whose shares are not represented by certificates pursuant to Section 6.2 of these Bylaws.

6.5 Regulations

Subject to the provisions of these Bylaws and of the Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors may make such rules and regulations as it may deem expedient concerning the issuance, transfer, redemption, and registration of certificates for shares of the corporation.

6.6 Transfer Agent(s) and Registrar(s)

The Board of Directors may appoint one or more transfer agent(s) and one or more registrar(s) with respect to the certificates representing shares of the corporation, and may require all such certificates to bear the signature of either or both. The Board of Directors may from time to time define the respective duties of such transfer agent(s) and registrar(s).

6.7 Lost or Destroyed Certificates

The corporation may issue (i) a new stock certificate or (ii) uncertificated shares in place of any certificates previously issued by the corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may prescribe, including the presentation of reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or destruction and the giving of such indemnity as the Board of Directors may require for the protection of the corporation or any transfer agent or registrar.

ARTICLE 7. INDEMNIFICATION

7.1 Indemnification

Except as provided in Section 7.2 of these Bylaws, the corporation may, to the maximum extent and in the manner permitted by the Revised Act, indemnify an individual made a party to a proceeding because he or she is or was a director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation, against liability incurred in the proceeding if his or her conduct was in good faith, he or she reasonably believed that his or her conduct was in, or not opposed to, the corporation's best interests, and in the case of any criminal proceeding, he or she had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Termination of the proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, upon a plea of *nolo contendere* or its equivalent, is not, of itself, determinative that the director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation, did not meet the standard of conduct described in this Section 7.1.

7.2 Certain Restrictions on Indemnification

The corporation may not indemnify a director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation under Section 7.1 of these Bylaws, in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of a corporation in which such party was adjudged liable to the corporation, or in connection with any other proceeding charging that such party derived an improper personal benefit, whether or not involving action in his or her official capacity, in which proceeding he or she was adjudged liable on the basis that he or she derived an improper personal benefit.

7.3 Mandatory Indemnification

The corporation shall indemnify a director or officer of the corporation who was successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding, or in the defense of any claim, issue, or matter in the proceeding, to which he or she was a party because he or she is or was a director or officer of the corporation, against reasonable expenses incurred by him or her in connection with the proceeding or claim with respect to which he or she has been successful.

7.4 Determination

The corporation may not indemnify a director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation under Section 7.1 of these Bylaws unless authorized and a determination has been made in a specific case that indemnification of such party is permissible in the circumstances because such party has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 7.1 of these Bylaws. Such determination shall be made either (a) by the Board of Directors by majority vote of those present at a meeting at which a quorum is present, and only those directors not parties to the proceedings shall be counted in satisfying the quorum requirement, (b) if a quorum cannot be obtained, by majority vote of a committee of the



Board of Directors designated by the Board of Directors, which committee shall consist of two (2) or more directors not parties to the proceeding, except that the directors who are not parties to the proceeding may participate in the designation of directors for the committee, (c) by special legal counsel selected by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors in the manner prescribed by the Revised Act, or (d) by the shareholders, by a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of qualified shares present in person or by proxy at a meeting. The majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of all qualified shares constitutes a quorum for purposes of action that complies with this Section 7.4. Shareholders' action that otherwise complies with this Section 7.4 is not affected by the presence of holders, or the voting, of shares that are not qualified shares as determined under the Revised Act.

7.5 General Indemnification

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by this Article 7 shall not be construed to be exclusive of any other rights to which a person seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, any agreement, any vote of shareholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in his or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office.

7.6 Advances

The corporation in accordance with the Revised Act may pay for or reimburse the reasonable expenses incurred by any director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation who is a party to a proceeding in advance of final disposition of the proceeding if (a) such party furnishes the corporation a written affirmation of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the applicable standard of conduct described in Section 7.1 of these Bylaws, (b) such party furnishes to the corporation a written undertaking in the form required by the Revised Act, executed personally or on his or her behalf, to repay the advance if it is ultimately determined that he or she did not meet the applicable standard of conduct, and (c) a determination is made that the facts then known to those making a determination would not preclude indemnification under this Article 7.

7.7 Scope of Indemnification

Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the indemnification and advancement of expenses authorized by this Article 7 are intended to permit the corporation to indemnify to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the State of Utah, any and all persons whom it shall have power to indemnify under such laws from and against any and all of the expenses, liabilities, or other matters referred to in or covered by such laws. Any indemnification or advancement of expenses hereunder shall, unless otherwise provided when the indemnification or advancement of expenses is authorized or ratified, continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation and shall inure to the benefit of such person's heirs, executors, and administrators.

7.8 Insurance

The corporation may purchase and maintain liability insurance on behalf of a person who is or was a director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation, or who, while serving as a director, officer, employee, fiduciary, or agent of the corporation, is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, partner, trustee, employee, fiduciary, or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, or other person, or of an employee benefit plan, against liability asserted against



or incurred by him or her in any such capacity or arising out of his or her status in any such capacity, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against the liability under the provisions of this Article 7 or the laws of the State of Utah, as the same may hereafter be amended or modified.

7.9 Effect of Repeal or Modification of Article 7

Any repeal or modification to this Article 7 by the shareholders of the corporation shall not adversely affect any right or protection of any person existing at the time of such repeal, modification or amendment.

ARTICLE 8. FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 9. AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, or new bylaws adopted, as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE 10. FORUM SELECTION

Unless the corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, a state or federal court located within the State of Utah shall be the sole and exclusive forum for: (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the corporation, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the corporation to the corporation or the corporation's shareholders, (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Revised Act, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, or (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. None of the foregoing actions, claims or proceedings may be brought in any court sitting outside the State of Utah unless the corporation consents in writing to such court. If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of the preceding sentence is filed in a court other than a court located within the State of Utah (a *"Foreign Action"*) in the name of any shareholder, such shareholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located within the State of Utah in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the precedent sentence and (ii) having service of process made upon such shareholder in any such action by service upon such shareholder's counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such shareholder.



Nature's Sunshine Reports Historic Fourth Quarter and Full Year 2020 Results, Introduces Capital Allocation Strategy

- Fourth Quarter 2020 Net Sales Increase 11% to a Company Record \$101.7 Million, Marking the Strongest Consolidated Net Sales Quarter in Company History -

- Board of Directors Declares Special Cash Dividend of \$1.00 per Share -

- Announces \$15 Million Share Repurchase Program -

LEHI, Utah – March 10, 2021 – Nature's Sunshine Products, Inc. (Nasdaq: NATR) (Nature's Sunshine), a leading natural health and wellness company of high-quality herbal and nutritional products, reported financial results for the fourth quarter and full year ended December 31, 2020.

Fourth Quarter 2020 Financial Highlights vs. Same Year-Ago Quarter

- Net sales increased 11% to a company record \$101.7 million compared to \$91.7 million.
- GAAP net income increased 445% to \$6.7 million, or \$0.29 per diluted share, compared to \$1.2 million, or \$0.05 per diluted share.
- Adjusted net income per diluted share was \$0.32, compared to an adjusted net income per share of \$0.05.
- Adjusted EBITDA was \$7.5 million compared to \$7.6 million.

Full Year 2020 Financial Highlights vs. 2019

- Net sales increased 6% to a company record \$385.2 million compared to \$362.2 million
- GAAP net income increased significantly to \$23.0 million, or \$1.07 per diluted share, compared to \$6.9 million, or \$0.34 per diluted share.
- Adjusted net income per diluted share was \$1.07, compared to an adjusted net income per share of \$0.42.
- Adjusted EBITDA increased 16% to \$36.2 million compared to \$31.2 million.

Capital Allocation

Nature's Sunshine's capital allocation initiatives will be prioritized in three areas of its business: first is maintaining the Company's financial strength and stability; second is the investment in incremental organic growth or strategic M&A opportunities; and third is future dividends or targeted share repurchases where opportunities arise. As such, Nature's Sunshine is announcing today that its board of directors declared a special cash dividend of \$1.00 per share payable on April 9, 2021 to shareholders of record as of March 29, 2021. In addition, its board authorized the repurchase of up to \$15 million of the company's common shares. The repurchases may be made from time to time as market conditions warrant and are subject to regulatory considerations.

Management Commentary

"Our momentum continued in the fourth quarter of 2020, as we outperformed the net sales record we achieved just last quarter, making 2020 fullyear sales the highest in the Company's 48-year history," said Terrence Moorehead, CEO of Nature's Sunshine. "All four of our global operating business units generated absolute growth, reflecting sustained consumer demand in the U.S. and China, and the continued success of our new business model and revamped field fundamentals in Europe and LATAM. For the full year, we made consistent progress with our five global growth strategies, allowing us to drive year-over-year net sales growth and



significant increases in both net income and adjusted EBITDA. Our team's dedication around the world has allowed us to further optimize our platform for sustainable long-term growth into 2021.

"Throughout the geographies in which we operate, distributors and customers have responded positively to our new branding and business model we launched during the third quarter. We have experienced meaningful growth in new customer acquisition and membership in our 'Subscribe and Thrive' program, and we remain committed to supporting the consultants, health practitioners and retailers within our distributor base as they transition to our revitalized model. Our enhanced organizational structure, digital and manufacturing capabilities, and field fundamentals are already driving material improvements in our go-to-market approach. These initiatives remain a core tenet of our capital allocation priorities as we focus on investing ahead of our growth and activating more customers around the world.

"But as we are announcing today, our record financial performance has also positioned us to return a meaningful amount of capital to our shareholders. We are proud of our financial success during 2020 despite the economic and operating challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our capital allocation initiatives will be prioritized in three areas of our business: first and foremost is maintaining our financial strength and stability; second is the investment in incremental organic growth opportunities and/or strategic M&A transactions; and third is future dividends or share repurchases where opportunities arise.

"I am proud of the progress we have made with our five global growth strategies in 2020 and the success we have generated with our transformation initiatives to date. We believe our company's growth trajectory is only just beginning, and we look forward to further maximizing the value we create for our customers, distributors and shareholders in the year ahead."

Fourth Quarter 2020 Financial Results

	 Net Sales by Operating Segment (Amounts in Thousands)										
	 e Months Ended ember 31, 2020		e Months Ended ember 31, 2019	Percent Change	Impact of Currency Exchange	Percent Change Excluding Impact of Currency					
Asia	\$ 36,903	\$	36,061	2.3 % \$	1,789	(2.6) %					
Europe	23,590		17,211	37.1	349	35.0					
North America	34,696		32,859	5.6	32	5.5					
Latin America and Other	6,554		5,564	17.8	(167)	20.8					
	\$ 101,743	\$	91,695	11.0 % \$	2,003	8.8 %					

Net sales in the fourth quarter of 2020 increased 11.0% to \$101.7 million compared to \$91.7 million in the year-ago quarter. The increase was due to new product development, the easing of COVID-19-related restrictions across key markets, and the continued execution of business transformation initiatives. Excluding favorable foreign exchange rates, net sales in the fourth quarter of 2020 increased 8.8% compared to the year-ago quarter.

Gross margin in the fourth quarter of 2020 remained flat at 74.0% compared to the year-ago quarter.

Volume incentives as a percentage of net sales in the fourth guarter of 2020 remained flat at 34.1%, consistent with the year-ago guarter.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in the fourth quarter of 2020 were \$38.4 million compared to \$32.7 million in the year-ago quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to variable costs associated with sales growth, higher costs associated with stock-based compensation and bonus-related expenses, and incremental support of sales initiatives. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A expenses were 37.8% in the fourth quarter of 2020 compared to 35.7% in the year-ago quarter. Excluding the impact of the restructuring and other unusual expenses, SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales were 37.1% in the fourth quarter of 2020 compared to 35.6% in the year-ago quarter.

Operating income in the fourth quarter of 2020 was \$2.2 million, or 2.2% of net sales, compared to \$3.9 million, or 4.3% of net sales, in the year-ago quarter. Excluding the impact of the restructuring and other unusual



expenses, operating income was \$2.9 million, or 2.9% of net sales, in fourth quarter of 2020, compared to \$3.9 million, or 4.3% of net sales, in the year-ago quarter. The decrease in operating income was primarily attributable to increased SG&A expenses noted above.

Other income, net, in the fourth quarter of 2020 was \$1.6 million compared to other income of \$0.5 million in the year-ago quarter. Other income, net, primarily consisted of foreign exchange gains as a result of net changes in foreign currencies, including Asia, Europe and Latin America. The provision (benefit) for income taxes was a benefit of \$(2.8) million in the fourth quarter of 2020 compared to a provision of \$3.2 million for the year-ago quarter. The favorable effective tax rate for the fourth quarter of 2020 was primarily due to reduction of valuation allowances relating to certain deferred tax assets.

GAAP net income attributable to common shareholders in the fourth quarter of 2020 was \$5.9 million, or \$0.29 per diluted common share, compared to \$1.0 million, or \$0.05 per diluted common share, in the year-ago quarter. Net income attributable to NSP China was \$3.9 million, or \$0.20 per diluted common share, in the fourth quarter of 2020, compared to \$1.1 million, or \$0.06 per diluted common share, in the year-ago quarter.

Adjusted net income attributable to common shareholders in the fourth quarter of 2020 was \$6.4 million, or \$0.32 per diluted common share, compared to \$1.0 million, or \$0.05 per diluted common share in the year-ago quarter. Adjusted net income, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined here as net income from continuing operations before less-frequent items including, among other things, restructuring expenses and certain tax refunds. A reconciliation of adjusted net income to GAAP net income is provided in the financial tables below.

Adjusted EBITDA in the fourth quarter of 2020 was \$7.5 million compared to \$7.6 million in the year-ago quarter. The modest decrease was primarily attributable to the aforementioned increase in SG&A expenses, including investments in support of the Company's long-term growth. Adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined here as net income from continuing operations before taxes, depreciation, amortization and other income/loss adjusted to exclude share-based compensation expense and certain noted adjustments. A reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA is provided in the financial tables below.

Full Year 2020 Financial Results

	 Net Sales by Operating Segment (Amounts in Thousands)										
	Year Ended ember 31, 2020		Year Ended ember 31, 2019	Percent Change	Impact of Currency Exchange	Percent Change Excluding Impact of Currency					
Asia	\$ 138,717	\$	138,536	0.1% \$	19	0.1 %					
Europe	77,688		62,523	24.3	156	24.0					
North America	145,481		138,163	5.3	(105)	5.4					
Latin America and Other	23,319		22,993	1.4	(839)	5.1					
	\$ 385,205	\$	362,215	6.3 % \$	(769)	6.6 %					

Net sales in 2020 increased 6.3% to \$385.2 million compared to \$362.2 million in 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to continued new product development and execution of business transformation initiatives across key markets.

Gross margin in 2020 was 73.7% compared to 74.1% in 2019. The decrease was primarily attributable to higher costs of sourcing given the current COVID-19 environment, as well as, an increase in free shipping promotions, isolated inventory charges, and the delayed timing of a price increase in North America.

Volume incentives as a percentage of net sales in 2020 were 34.0% compared to 34.1% in 2019.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in 2020 were \$131.3 million compared to \$128.7 million in 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to variable costs associated with sales growth, higher costs associated with stock-based compensation and bonus-related expenses, and incremental support of sales initiatives. As a percentage of net sales, SG&A expenses were 34.1% in 2020 compared to 35.5% in 2019. Excluding the impact



of the restructuring and other unusual expenses, SG&A expenses as a percentage of net sales were 34.0% in 2020 compared to 34.9% in 2019.

Operating income in 2020 increased 33% to \$21.5 million, or 5.6% of net sales, compared to \$16.1 million, or 4.5% of net sales, in 2019. Excluding the impact of the restructuring and other unusual expenses, operating income was \$21.7 million, or 5.6% of net sales, in 2020, compared to \$18.5 million, or 5.1% of net sales, in 2019.

Other income, net, in 2020 increased significantly to \$1.3 million compared to a loss of \$0.5 million in 2019. Other income, net, primarily consisted of foreign exchange gains as a result of net changes in foreign currencies, including Asia, Europe and Latin America. The provision (benefit) for income taxes was a benefit of \$(0.1) million in 2020 compared to a provision of \$8.7 million in 2019.

GAAP net income attributable to common shareholders in 2020 was \$21.3 million, or \$1.07 per diluted common share, compared to \$6.8 million, or \$0.34 per diluted common share, in 2019. Net income attributable to NSP China was \$8.1 million, or \$0.41 per diluted common share, in 2020, compared to \$0.8 million, or \$0.04 per diluted common share, in 2019.

Adjusted net income attributable to common shareholders in 2020 was \$21.3 million, or \$1.07 per diluted common share, compared to \$8.3 million, or \$0.42 per diluted common share, in 2019. A reconciliation of adjusted net income to GAAP net income is provided in the financial tables below.

Adjusted EBITDA in 2020 increased 16% to \$36.2 million compared to \$31.2 million in 2019. The increase was primarily driven by the aforementioned growth in net sales. A reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA is provided in the financial tables below.

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow

Net cash provided by operating activities was \$37.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to \$8.5 million provided by operating activities in the prior year. Capital expenditures during the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled \$4.9 million compared to \$5.1 million in 2019. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of \$92.1 million and outstanding debt of \$3.7 million.

Conference Call

The Company will hold a conference call today at 5:00 p.m. Eastern time to discuss its fourth quarter and full year 2020 results.

Date: Wednesday, March 10, 2021 Time: 5:00 p.m. Eastern time (3:00 p.m. Mountain time) Toll-free dial-in number: 1-888-394-8218 International dial-in number: 1-323-701-0225 Conference ID: 9072663

Please call the conference telephone number 5-10 minutes prior to the start time. An operator will register your name and organization. If you have any difficulty connecting with the conference call, please contact Gateway Investor Relations at 1-949-574-3860.

The conference call will be broadcast live and available for replay at<u>http://public.viavid.com/player/index.php?id=143615</u> and via the Events section of the Nature's Sunshine website at <u>https://ir.naturessunshine.com/news-events/ir-calendar</u>.

A replay of the conference call will be available after 8:00 p.m. Eastern time on the same day through March 24, 2021.

Toll-free replay number: 1-844-512-2921 International replay number: 1-412-317-6671 Replay ID: 9072663



About Nature's Sunshine Products

Nature's Sunshine Products (Nasdaq: NATR), a leading natural health and wellness company, markets and distributes nutritional and personal care products in more than 40 countries. Nature's Sunshine manufactures most of its products through its own state-of-the-art facilities to ensure its products continue to set the standard for the highest quality, safety and efficacy on the market today. Additional information about the company can be obtained at its website, <u>www.naturessunshine.com</u>.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This press release contains forward-looking statements regarding the Company's future business expectations, which are subject to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to the Company's objectives, plans, strategies and financial results. All statements (other than statements of historical fact) that address activities, events or developments that the Company intends, expects, projects, believes or anticipates will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements. These statements are often characterized by terminology such as "believe," "hope," "may," "anticipate," "should," "intend," "plan," "will," "expect," "estimate," "project," "positioned," "strategy" and similar expressions, and are based on assumptions and assessments made by management in light of their experience and their perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors they believe to be appropriate. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties, including the following:

- laws and regulations regarding direct selling may prohibit or restrict our ability to sell our products in some markets or require us to make changes to our business model in some markets;
- extensive government regulations to which the Company's products, business practices and manufacturing activities are subject;
- registration of products for sale in foreign markets, or difficulty or increased cost of importing products into foreign markets;
- legal challenges to the Company's direct selling program or to the classification of its independent consultants;
- liabilities and obligations arising from improper activity by the Company's independent consultants;
- product liability claims;
- our cannabidiol (CBD) product line is subject to varying, rapidly changing laws, regulations, and rules;
- actions on trade relations by the U.S. and foreign governments;
- impact of anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
- the Company's ability to attract and retain independent consultants;
- the loss of one or more key independent consultants who have a significant sales network;
- the Company's joint venture for operations in China with Fosun Industrial Co., Ltd.;
- the effect of fluctuating foreign exchange rates;
- failure of the Company's independent consultants to comply with advertising laws;
- changes to the Company's independent consultants compensation plans;
- geopolitical issues and conflicts;
- we may be adversely affected by the ongoing coronavirus pandemic;
- negative consequences resulting from difficult economic conditions, including the availability of liquidity or the willingness of the Company's customers to purchase products;
- risks associated with the manufacturing of the Company's products;
- uncertainties relating to the application of transfer pricing, duties, value-added taxes, and other tax regulations, and changes thereto;
- changes in tax laws, treaties or regulations, or their interpretation;
- cybersecurity threats and exposure to data loss;
- the storage, processing, and use of data, some of which contain personal information, are subject to complex and evolving privacy and data
 protection laws and regulations;
- reliance on information technology infrastructure; and



• the sufficiency of trademarks and other intellectual property rights.

These and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from predicted results are more fully detailed under the caption "Risk Factors" in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports filed on Form 10-Q.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this press release and are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in or incorporated by reference into this press release. Except as is required by law, the Company expressly disclaims any obligation to publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events after the date of this press release.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We have included information which has not been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), such as information concerning non-GAAP net income, Adjusted EBITDA and net sales excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange fluctuations.

We utilize the non-GAAP measures of non-GAAP net income and Adjusted EBITDA in the evaluation of our operations and believe that these measures are useful indicators of our ability to fund our business. These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as an alternative to, or more meaningful than, U.S. GAAP net income as an indicator of our operating performance.

Other companies may use the same or similarly named measures, but exclude different items, which may not provide investors with a comparable view of Nature's Sunshine Products' performance in relation to other companies. We have included a reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA, the most comparable GAAP measure. We have also included a reconciliation of GAAP net income to Non-GAAP net income and Non-GAAP Adjusted EPS, in the financial tables below.

Net sales in local currency removes, from net sales in U.S. dollars, the impact of changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the functional currencies of our foreign subsidiaries. This is accomplished by translating the current period net sales into U.S. dollars using the same foreign currency exchange rates that were used to translate the net sales for the previous comparable period.

We believe presenting the impact of foreign currency fluctuations is useful to investors because it allows a more meaningful comparison of net sales of our foreign operations from period to period. Net sales excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net sales in U.S. dollar measures that reflect current period exchange rates, or to other financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Investor Relations:

Gateway Investor Relations Cody Slach 1-949-574-3860 NATR@gatewayir.com



NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Amounts in thousands, except per share information) (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended December 31, 2020 Year Ended December 31, 2020 Year Ended December 31, 2020 Zour 2019 Zour 2019	(Unddated)								
Net sales \$ 101,743 \$ 91,695 \$ 385,205 \$ 362,215 Cost of sales (26,403) (23,862) (101,276) (93,940) Gross profit 75,340 67,833 283,929 268,275 Operating expenses: 34,657 31,233 131,150 123,410 Selling, general and administrative 38,434 32,692 131,297 128,740 Operating income 2,249 3,908 21,482 16,125 Other income (loss), net 1,569 502 1,339 (483) Income before provision for income taxes (2,832) 3,190 (137) 8,713 Net income 6,650 1,220 22,958 6,929 Net income attributable to common shareholders 5 5,866 1,002 \$ 21,337 \$ 6,765 Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.35 Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314									
Cost of sales (22,403) (23,862) (101,276) (93,940) Gross profit 75,340 67,833 283,929 268,275 Operating expenses: 34,657 31,233 131,150 123,410 Selling, general and administrative 38,434 32,692 131,297 128,740 Operating income 2,249 3,908 21,482 16,125 Other income (loss), net 1,569 502 1,339 (483) Income before provision for income taxes 3,818 4,410 22,821 15,642 Provision (benefit) for income taxes (2,832) 3,190 (137) 8,713 Net income 6,650 1,220 22,958 6,929 Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 784 218 1,621 164 Net income per common shareholders \$ 5,866 1,002 \$ 21,337 \$ 6,765 Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 0.34 <			2020		2019		2020	_	2019
Gross profit (10) Gr	Net sales	\$	101,743	\$	91,695	\$	385,205	\$	362,215
Operating expenses: 34,657 31,233 131,150 123,410 Selling, general and administrative 38,434 32,692 131,297 128,740 Operating income 2,249 3,908 21,482 16,125 Other income (loss), net 1,569 502 1,339 (483) Income before provision for income taxes 3,818 4,410 22,821 15,642 Provision (benefit) for income taxes (2,832) 3,190 (137) 8,713 Net income 784 218 1,621 1644 Net income attributable to common shareholders \$ 5,866 1,002 \$ 21,337 \$ 6,765 Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.35 Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314	Cost of sales		(26,403)		(23,862)		(101,276)		(93,940)
Volume incentives 34,657 31,233 131,150 123,410 Selling, general and administrative 38,434 32,692 131,297 128,740 Operating income 2,249 3,908 21,482 16,125 Other income (loss), net 1,569 502 1,339 (483) Income before provision for income taxes 3,818 4,410 22,821 15,642 Provision (benefit) for income taxes (2,832) 3,190 (137) 8,713 Net income 6,650 1,220 22,958 6,929 Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 784 218 1,621 164 Net income attributable to common shareholders \$ 5,866 1,002 \$ 21,337 \$ 6,765 Basic and diluted net income per common share. \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.34 Uited earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,3	Gross profit		75,340		67,833		283,929		268,275
Selling, general and administrative 38,434 32,692 131,297 128,740 Operating income 2,249 3,908 21,482 16,125 Other income (loss), net 1,569 502 1,339 (483) Income before provision for income taxes 3,818 4,410 22,821 15,642 Provision (benefit) for income taxes (2,832) 3,190 (137) 8,713 Net income 6,650 1,220 22,958 6,929 Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 784 218 1,621 164 Net income per common shareholders \$ 5,866 \$ 1,002 \$ 21,337 \$ 6,765 Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.35 Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314	Operating expenses:								
Operating income2,2493,90821,48216,125Other income (loss), net1,5695021,339(483)Income before provision for income taxes3,8184,41022,82115,642Provision (benefit) for income taxes(2,832)3,190(137)8,713Net income6,6501,22022,9586,929Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests7842181,621164Net income attributable to common shareholders\$5,866\$1,002\$21,337\$6,765Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders\$0.05\$1.09\$0.35Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders\$0.29\$0.05\$1.07\$0.34Weighted average basic common shares outstanding19,67019,37419,53719,31419,314	Volume incentives		34,657		31,233		131,150		123,410
Other income (loss), net1,5695021,339(483)Income before provision for income taxes3,8184,41022,82115,642Provision (benefit) for income taxes(2,832)3,190(137)8,713Net income6,6501,22022,9586,929Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests7842181,621164Net income attributable to common shareholders\$ 5,866\$ 1,002\$ 21,337\$ 6,765Basic and diluted net income per common shareholders\$ 0.30\$ 0.05\$ 1.09\$ 0.35Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders\$ 0.29\$ 0.05\$ 1.07\$ 0.34Weighted average basic common shares outstanding19,67019,37419,53719,314	Selling, general and administrative		38,434		32,692		131,297		128,740
Income before provision for income taxes3,8184,41022,82115,642Provision (benefit) for income taxes(2,832)3,190(137)8,713Net income6,6501,22022,9586,929Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests7842181,621164Net income attributable to common shareholders\$ 5,866\$ 1,002\$ 21,337\$ 6,765Basic and diluted net income per common share:\$ 0.30\$ 0.05\$ 1.09\$ 0.35Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders\$ 0.29\$ 0.05\$ 1.07\$ 0.34Weighted average basic common shares outstanding19,67019,37419,53719,314	Operating income		2,249		3,908		21,482		16,125
Provision (benefit) for income taxes(2,832)3,190(137)8,713Net income6,6501,22022,9586,929Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests7842181,621164Net income attributable to common shareholders\$ 5,866\$ 1,002\$ 21,337\$ 6,765Basic and diluted net income per common shareholders\$ 0.30\$ 0.05\$ 1.09\$ 0.35Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders\$ 0.29\$ 0.05\$ 1.07\$ 0.34Weighted average basic common shares outstanding19,67019,37419,53719,314	Other income (loss), net		1,569		502		1,339		(483)
Net income6,6501,22022,9586,929Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests7842181,621164Net income attributable to common shareholders\$ 5,866\$ 1,002\$ 21,337\$ 6,765Basic and diluted net income per common shareholders\$ 0.30\$ 0.05\$ 1.09\$ 0.35Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders\$ 0.29\$ 0.05\$ 1.09\$ 0.34Weighted average basic common shares outstanding19,67019,37419,53719,314	Income before provision for income taxes		3,818		4,410		22,821		15,642
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 784 218 1,621 164 Net income attributable to common shareholders \$ 5,866 \$ 1,002 \$ 21,337 \$ 6,765 Basic and diluted net income per common share \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.35 Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314	Provision (benefit) for income taxes		(2,832)		3,190		(137)		8,713
Set income attributable to common shareholders Source	Net income		6,650		1,220		22,958		6,929
Basic and diluted net income per common share: Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding	Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests		784		218		1,621		164
Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.30 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.09 \$ 0.35 Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314	Net income attributable to common shareholders	\$	5,866	\$	1,002	\$	21,337	\$	6,765
Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314	Basic and diluted net income per common share:								
Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders \$ 0.29 \$ 0.05 \$ 1.07 \$ 0.34 Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314	Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders	Ś	0.30	Ś	0.05	Ś	1.09	Ś	0.35
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,670 19,374 19,537 19,314		<u>.</u>				-		-	
	Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders	\$	0.29	\$	0.05	\$	1.07	\$	0.34
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding20,02219,65919,96819,663	Weighted average basic common shares outstanding		19,670		19,374		19,537		19,314
	Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding	_	20,022		19,659		19,968		19,663



NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Amounts in thousands) (Unaudited)

(Unaudited)				
As of December 31,		2020		2019
Assets				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	92,069	\$	53,629
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$454 and \$407, respectively		7,375		7,319
Inventories		47,683		46,666
Prepaid expenses and other		6,938		5,091
Total current assets		154,065		112,705
Property, plant and equipment, net		54,355		59,512
Operating lease right-of-use assets		20,210		23,951
Restricted investment securities - trading		989		1,150
Deferred income tax assets		8,693		4,899
Other assets		11,186		10,851
	\$	249,498	\$	213,068
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable	\$	6,486	\$	4,406
Accrued volume incentives and service fees		19,481		18,893
Accrued liabilities		31,710		25,531
Deferred revenue		2,092		1,266
Current installments of long-term debt and revolving credit facility		1,306		_
Related party note		1,200		1,518
Income taxes payable		2,387		1,392
Current portion of operating lease liabilities		4,992		4,941
Total current liabilities		69,654		57,947
Liability related to unrecognized tax benefits		92		1,499
Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities		16,412		20,213
Long-term debt and revolving credit facility		2,418		_
Deferred compensation payable		989		1,150
Long-term deferred income tax liabilities		1,391		1,655
Other liabilities		1,308		1,168
Total liabilities		92,264		83,632
		· · · ·		
Shareholders' equity:				
Common stock, no par value; 50,000 shares authorized, 19,697 and 19,410 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively		139,311		135,741
Retained earnings		26,030		4,693
Noncontrolling interests		1,848		227
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(9,955)		(11,225)
Total shareholders' equity		157,234		129,436
	\$	249,498	\$	213,068
	Ť	,	-	



NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Amounts in thousands) (Unaudited)

Year Ended December 31,	2020		2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:			
Net income	\$ 22,958	Ş	6,929
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by ope	-		10
Provision for doubtful accounts	77		10
Depreciation and amortization	10,743		10,599
Noncash lease expense	4,735		5,394
Share-based compensation expense	3,787		2,120
Loss on sale of property and equipment	29		43
Deferred income taxes	(4,357)		4,279
Purchase of trading investment securities	(60)		(83)
Proceeds from sale of trading investment securities	339		464
Realized and unrealized gains on investments	(115)		(224)
Foreign exchange (gains) losses	(1,270)		107
Loss on write-off of cumulative translation adjustment	-		595
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable	106		375
Inventories			
	(154)		(4,870)
Prepaid expenses and other	(1,762)		1,229 475
Other assets Accounts payable	(55) 2,090		(960)
Accounts payable Accrued volume incentives and service fees	2,090		. ,
Accrued volume incentives and service rees	5,341		(1,564) (8,593)
Deferred revenue	5,541 766		(8,595) 69
Lease liabilities	(4,716)		(5,039)
Income taxes payable	671		(1,960)
Liability related to unrecognized tax positions	(1,407)		(1,980) (693)
Deferred compensation payable	(1,407)		. ,
Net cash provided by operating activities	37,659		(157) 8,545
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:			6,545
Purchases of property, plant and equipment	(4,905)		(5,104)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment	(4,503)		(3,104)
Net cash used in investing activities	(4,905)		
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:	(4,503)		(5,102)
Proceeds from revolving credit facility			2,064
Principal payments of revolving credit facility			(2,064)
Proceeds from notes payable	9,098		(2,004)
Principal payments of long-term debt	(5,374)		_
Principal payments of borrowings from related party	(3,3,4)		_
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	472		257
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options	472		(320)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	3,878		(520)
	1,808		. ,
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents			(389)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	38,440		2,991
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year	53,629	ć	50,638
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year	\$ 92,069	\$	53,629
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:			
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds	\$ 4,832	\$	6,861
Cash paid for interest	86		64



NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO ADJUSTED EBITDA (Amounts in thousands) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended December 31,					Year Ended December 31,					
		2020		2019	2020			2019			
Net income	\$	6,650	\$	1,220	\$	22,958	\$	6,929			
Adjustments:											
Depreciation and amortization		2,909		3,066		10,743		10,599			
Share-based compensation expense		1,646		591		3,787		2,120			
Other (income) loss, net*		(1,569)		(502)		(1,339)		483			
Provision (benefit) for income taxes		(2,832)		3,190		(137)		8,713			
Other adjustments (1)		676		11		173		2,375			
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	7,480	\$	7,576	\$	36,185	\$	31,219			
(1) Other adjustments											
Restructuring and other unusual expenses	\$	676	\$	11	\$	808	\$	2,375			
VAT refund		_		_		(635)		_			
Total adjustments	\$	676	\$	11	\$	173	\$	2,375			

* Other (income) loss, net is primarily comprised of foreign exchange (gains) losses, interest income, and interest expense.



NATURE'S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES RECONCILIATION OF GAAP NET INCOME TO NON-GAAP NET INCOME and NON-GAAP ADJUSTED EPS (Amounts in thousands) (Unaudited)

	Three Mor Decem		 Year Decem	Ended ber 31	,
	 2020	2019	 2020		2019
Net income	\$ 6,650	\$ 1,220	\$ 22,958	\$	6,929
Adjustments:					
Restructuring and other unusual expenses	676	11	808		2,375
VAT refund	-	-	(635)		—
Tax impact of adjustments	 (169)	(4)	 (202)		(871)
Total adjustments	 507	7	 (29)		1,504
Non-GAAP net income	\$ 7,157	\$ 1,227	\$ 22,929	\$	8,433
Reported income attributable to common shareholders	\$ 5,866		\$ 21,337	\$	6,765
Total adjustments	 507	7	 (29)		1,504
Non-GAAP net income attributable to common shareholders	\$ 6,373	\$ 1,009	\$ 21,308	\$	8,269
Basic income per share, as reported	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.05	\$ 1.09	\$	0.35
Total adjustments, net of tax	0.03	_	_		0.08
Basic income per share, as adjusted	\$ 0.33	\$ 0.05	\$ 1.09	\$	0.43
Diluted income per share, as reported	\$ 0.29	\$ 0.05	\$ 1.07	\$	0.34
Total adjustments, net of tax	 0.03		 _		0.08
Diluted income per share, as adjusted	\$ 0.32	\$ 0.05	\$ 1.07	\$	0.42